

Q8. Can we identify pain mediated by nociceptive mechanisms, neuropathic, and nociplastic mechanisms in experimental models of OA?

Vicky Chapman, Kim Chisholm, Mar Vives Escola, David Finn, Rosmara Infantino, Ewan St John Smith, Rachel Miller.

RESPONSE: YES. Nociceptive pain can be readily identified in OA models, while identifying neuropathic and nociplastic pain is more challenging.

LEVEL OF EVIDENCE: Varies based on mechanism. Nociceptive mechanisms – Strong evidence; Neuropathic mechanisms – Moderate evidence; Nociplastic mechanisms – Limited evidence.

RATIONALE:

Methods: PubMed searches for “osteoarthritis pain AND rat” and “osteoarthritis pain behavior AND mouse” produced a total of 1314 and 926 results respectively (search made 5.1.2026). Search narrowed: “osteoarthritis nociceptive AND mouse” (96 results) “osteoarthritis nociceptive AND rat” (206 results), “osteoarthritis neuropathic AND mouse” (38 results), “osteoarthritis neuropathic AND rat” (76 results), “osteoarthritis nociplastic AND mouse” (1 result), “osteoarthritis nociplastic AND rat” (2 results).

Nociceptive mechanisms: Defined as processes underpinning the detection and response to a painful stimulus following the activation of sensory nociceptors. These peripheral, spinal and brain mechanisms occur without overt nervous system damage, responses are stimulus dependent and include processes that result in reversible peripheral and central sensitization. Pain states exhibiting nociceptive mechanisms have functional descending inhibitory control pathways.

1) Sensory afferent morphology, spontaneous and evoked responses of sensory neurones and spinal neurones. Models of OA exhibit nociceptor neuroplasticity in the damaged knee joint, including sprouting in the synovium and the subchondral bone and increased Nav1.8+ innervation at later stages of the DMM model^{1,2}. In this model, development of pain behaviour is associated with increased sensory nerve fibres and DRG expression of calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP)³. Increased CGRP and TrkA immunoreactivity in DRGs innervating subchondral bone and knee joint was positively correlated with subchondral bone damage score, but not cartilage degeneration in MIA rats⁴. The percentage of CGRP-positive cells in medium/large cells was significantly increased in MIA rats⁴. Knee joint mechanosensitive afferent fibre recordings suggest C-fibre contributions to spontaneous pain behaviours, and A fibre contributions to stimulus-evoked pain behaviour in MIA rats⁵. Increases in joint afferent firing frequency are MIA dose related⁶. However, at the population level, studies of multiple retrogradely labelled joint afferents did not identify increased spontaneous activity in PMX mice⁷. Knee joint levels of multiple pro-nociceptive molecules and receptors are increased in mouse models of OA⁸ and local administration of nociceptive molecules increased the movement-evoked activity of joint afferent sensory nerves⁹ and spinal neuronal responses in MIA rats¹⁰. Alterations in high-threshold mechanosensitive ion channel properties in MIA mice contribute to peripheral sensitization¹¹. Evidence for spontaneous firing and spinal sensitization, which is maintained at the spinal level, is strong in the MIA model¹²⁻¹⁵. Supported by increased contributions of Nav1.7 and 1.8 within nociceptive pathways in OA models at peripheral and central levels, and increased spinal voltage-gated calcium channel contributions¹⁶⁻¹⁹. Mixed evidence is evident for altered markers of central sensitization, protein levels of c-Fos and p-ERK1/2 and IBA-1 and GFAP were not altered in the spinal cord of DMM mice³ but are increased in MIA rats²⁰. Evidence for altered top-down control of spinal excitability, with increased RVM contributions and increased opioid sensitivity at later stages in the MIA model²¹.

2) Pharmacological interventions supporting nociceptive mechanisms. Strong evidence includes the ability of morphine, tramadol and oxycodone to reduce MIA-induced behavioural responses

(movement-evoked pain behaviours, lowered mechanical thresholds and heat hyperalgesia)^{22, 23}. Strong evidence from blockade of the archetypal nociceptive channel, TRPV1. Intra-articular TRPV1 antagonism attenuates MIA-induced WB asymmetry²⁴, intra-arterial antagonist administration reduces mechanically-evoked firing of joint afferents in MIA rats and reversed the lowered mechanical thresholds²⁴. Spinal TRPV1 antagonism inhibits spontaneous and evoked responses of nociceptive specific and WDR neurones in rat models of OA¹⁵.

Neuropathic Mechanisms: neuropathic pain is defined as arising from a lesion or disease of the somatosensory system. OA models display several neuropathy-like features, yet discrimination of neuropathic mechanisms from other mechanisms requires converging lines of supporting evidence.

1. Peripheral Nerve Injury: Activating Transcription Factor (ATF3) expression in ipsilateral DRGs is an indicator of neuropathy across OA models^{1–4}. ATF3 is absent in intact DRGs, but induced by peripheral axotomy (not by inflammation⁵), and can be co-expressed with Growth Associated protein 43⁶ during regeneration. ATF3 is reported in the MIA model^{1–4}, where its expression is dose-dependent^{6,7}. High MIA doses produce biphasic expression with strong early peaks (6), which may reflect MIA-induced acute toxicity¹. More convincing evidence for neuropathic mechanisms is low dose MIA (0.3mg) induced delayed persistent low-level ATF3 expression at later timepoints, compared to high dose MIA⁶. Reduced intra-epidermal fibre density⁷ and reduced retrograde labelling of knee afferents suggests nerve fibre retraction from the joint⁸, sympathetic sprouting¹, and afferent nerve demyelination, which appears earlier and more prominently in the **MIA** model, compared to the MMT model^{9–11}. Note evidence for sex differences in nerve injury and behavioural changes in PTOA models¹².

2. Central neuroinflammatory mechanisms: These occur in non-neuropathic pain states and therefore cannot be attributed specifically to neuropathic mechanisms. In OA models, spinal gliosis is reported from week one onwards, and often parallels ATF3 expression in DRGs^{1,2,7,14}. However, gliosis can precede detectable nerve injury¹⁵. Glial inhibition can attenuate mechanical hypersensitivity, but not cold hypersensitivity¹, suggesting gliosis alone is insufficient to drive neuropathic mechanisms. MIA and surgical (ACLT/DMM) exhibit changes reflective of central sensitization^{16–19}. In the MIA model, dorsal horn c-Fos induction occurs only in the presence of ongoing NSAID-resistant pain behaviour, and A- and C-fibre-evoked responses are amplified without threshold shifts, consistent with central hyperexcitability rather than altered peripheral sensitivity²⁰. High MIA doses can recruit supraspinal descending facilitation²⁰, consistent with neuropathic mechanisms. Although central sensitization implicates a neuropathic component, overlap with nociceptive **mechanisms** limits specificity of mechanisms.

(3) Behavioural hypersensitivity and (4) Pharmacological profile: Behavioural pain readouts of OA models lack mechanistic specificity per se, however secondary mechanical^{7,23} and cold^{1,7,23,24} hypersensitivity are strongly suggestive of neuropathic mechanisms, especially when co-supported by markers of neuropathy (ATF3 expression⁷) and pharmacological verification^{9,25}. Pharmacological responsiveness does require caution as commonly used neuropathic pain drugs, (SNRIs and anticonvulsants such as gabapentin) exert broader central modulatory effects, not univocally confirming neuropathic mechanisms. Evidence for neuropathic mechanisms is strengthened when neuropathic-pain drugs have beneficial effects in NSAID resistant models of OA^{9,25}.

Nociplastic mechanisms: Distinct from nociceptive and neuropathic pain, mechanisms may include augmented CNS pain and sensory processing and altered pain modulation, symptoms may include more widespread or intense pain than expected given the amount of identifiable tissue or nerve damage, as well as CNS-derived symptoms (fatigue, sleep, memory, and mood problems). Two papers were identified from the pubmed search^{XY}, but upon scrutiny provided no supporting evidence. Widening the search to the aforementioned symptoms, provided evidence of alterations in sleep patterns in MIA **rats**, increased negative affective **behaviors**, changes in circadian patterns, persistent cognitive impairments, and late development of depressive-like behavior in MIA **mice**.

Commented [VC1]: I am excluding this model as not considered model of OA and limited space. Additionally, nerve-injury oriented approaches like LPA models, demonstrate demyelination and widespread ATF3 induction within the DRGs, without overt inflammation^{9,13}. While effectively modelling peripheral neuropathy the high proportion of damaged nerves (~50% of assessed DRG neurons) raises questions about clinical comparability.

Commented [VC2]: I would remove this. Behaviourally, several studies in MIA models support a biphasic pattern characterized by an early phase, transient resolution, and later re-emergence of pain-related phenotype^{6,7,21} consistent with an initial inflammatory stage (e.g. increased inflammatory cytokines)²², followed by a delayed neuropathic contribution supported by neuropathy markers, as described above.

Commented [VC3]: [Predictive and concurrent validity of pain sensitivity phenotype, neuropeptidomics and neuroepigenetics in the MI-RAT osteoarthritic surgical model in rats - PubMed](#)
[NLRP3 inflammasome activation in sensory neurons promotes chronic inflammatory and osteoarthritis pain - PubMed](#)

Commented [VC4]: [Sex differences in sleep pattern of rats in an experimental model of osteoarthritis - PubMed](#)

[Sleep pattern in an experimental model of osteoarthritis - PubMed](#)

Commented [VC5]: [Blockade of the Sigma-1 Receptor Relieves Cognitive and Emotional Impairments Associated to Chronic Osteoarthritis Pain - PubMed](#)

Commented [VC6]: [Differences in multidimensional phenotype of 2 joint pain models link early weight-bearing deficit to late depressive-like behavior in male mice - PubMed](#)

[Supraspinal neuroinflammation and anxi-depressive-like behaviors in young- and older- adult mice with osteoarthritis pain: the effect of morphine - PubMed](#)

Conclusion: There is a very high level of evidence of pain mediated by nociceptive mechanisms from many studies of various experimental models of OA in mice and rats. Although less widely studied, there is substantial evidence for neuropathic mechanisms in experimental models of OA, however not all evidence is equal and should be triangulated to increase confidence. Behavioural evidence is essential but should be supported by appropriate correlates of neuropathic mechanisms that are temporally aligned with structural changes to the joint and nerves. There are very few studies of nociplastic mechanisms and the supporting evidence for these mechanisms in experimental models of OA is scarce, which aligns with the limited evidence of these mechanisms in models of neuropathic pain.

References

1. Obeidat, A. M., Ishihara, S., Li, J., Adamczyk, N. S., Lammlin, L., Junginger, L., Maerz, T., Miller, R. J., Miller, R. E., & Malfait, A. M. (2024). Intra-articular sprouting of nociceptors accompanies progressive osteoarthritis: comparative evidence in four murine models. *Frontiers in neuroanatomy*, 18, 1429124.
2. Obeidat, A. M., Miller, R. E., Miller, R. J., & Malfait, A. M. (2019). The nociceptive innervation of the normal and osteoarthritic mouse knee. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage*, 27(11), 1669–1679. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2019.07.012>
3. Alves, C. J., Couto, M., Sousa, D. M., Magalhães, A., Neto, E., Leitão, L., Conceição, F., Monteiro, A. C., Ribeiro-da-Silva, M., & Lamghari, M. (2020). Nociceptive mechanisms driving pain in a post-traumatic osteoarthritis mouse model. *Scientific reports*, 10(1), 15271. <https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-72227-9>
4. Aso, K., Izumi, M., Sugimura, N., Okanoue, Y., Ushida, T., & Ikeuchi, M. (2016). Nociceptive phenotype alterations of dorsal root ganglia neurons innervating the subchondral bone in osteoarthritic rat knee joints. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage*, 24(9), 1596–1603. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2016.04.009>
5. Kelly, S., Dunham, J. P., Murray, F., Read, S., Donaldson, L. F., & Lawson, S. N. (2012). Spontaneous firing in C-fibers and increased mechanical sensitivity in A-fibers of knee joint-associated mechanoreceptive primary afferent neurones during MIA-induced osteoarthritis in the rat. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage*, 20(4), 305–313. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2012.01.002>
6. Schuelert, N., & McDougall, J. J. (2009). Grading of monosodium iodoacetate-induced osteoarthritis reveals a concentration-dependent sensitization of nociceptors in the knee joint of the rat. *Neuroscience letters*, 465(2), 184–188. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2009.08.063>
7. Goodwin, G. L., Marin, A. C., Walker, J. V., Hobbs, C., & Denk, F. (2025). Using in vivo calcium imaging to examine joint neuron spontaneous activity and home cage analysis to monitor activity changes in mouse models of arthritis. *Arthritis research & therapy*, 27(1), 67. <https://doi.org/10.1186/s13075-025-03515-w>
8. Driscoll, C., Chanalaris, A., Knights, C., Ismail, H., Sacitharan, P. K., Gentry, C., Bevan, S., & Vincent, T. L. (2016). Nociceptive Sensitizers Are Regulated in Damaged Joint Tissues, Including Articular Cartilage, When Osteoarthritic Mice Display Pain Behavior. *Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, N.J.)*, 68(4), 857–867. <https://doi.org/10.1002/art.39523>
9. Gomis, A., Meini, S., Miralles, A., Valenti, C., Giuliani, S., Belmonte, C., & Maggi, C. A. (2013). Blockade of nociceptive sensory afferent activity of the rat knee joint by the bradykinin B2 receptor antagonist fasilant. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage*, 21(9), 1346–1354. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2013.03.013>

10. Sagar, D. R., Nwosu, L., Walsh, D. A., & Chapman, V. (2015). Dissecting the contribution of knee joint NGF to spinal nociceptive sensitization in a model of OA pain in the rat. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage*, 23(6), 906–913. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2015.01.010>
11. He, B. H., Christin, M., Mouchbahani-Constance, S., Davidova, A., & Sharif-Naeini, R. (2017). Mechanosensitive ion channels in articular nociceptors drive mechanical allodynia in osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage*, 25(12), 2091–2099. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2017.08.012>
12. Kelly, S., Dobson, K. L., & Harris, J. (2013). Spinal nociceptive reflexes are sensitized in the monosodium iodoacetate model of osteoarthritis pain in the rat. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage*, 21(9), 1327–1335. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2013.07.002>
13. Sagar, D. R., Staniaszek, L. E., Okine, B. N., Woodhams, S., Norris, L. M., Pearson, R. G., Garle, M. J., Alexander, S. P., Bennett, A. J., Barrett, D. A., Kendall, D. A., Scammell, B. E., & Chapman, V. (2010). Tonic modulation of spinal hyperexcitability by the endocannabinoid receptor system in a rat model of osteoarthritis pain. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, 62(12), 3666–3676. <https://doi.org/10.1002/art.27698>
14. McGaraughey, S., Chu, K. L., & Xu, J. (2018). Characterization and pharmacological modulation of noci-responsive deep dorsal horn neurons across diverse rat models of pathological pain. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 120(4), 1893–1905. <https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00325.2018>
15. Chu, K. L., Chandran, P., Joshi, S. K., Jarvis, M. F., Kym, P. R., & McGaraughey, S. (2011). TRPV1-related modulation of spinal neuronal activity and behavior in a rat model of osteoarthritic pain. *Brain research*, 1369, 158–166. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2010.10.101>
16. Reid, A. R., Côté, P. D., & McDougall, J. J. (2022). Long-Term Blockade of Nociceptive Nav1.7 Channels Is Analgesic in Rat Models of Knee Arthritis. *Biomolecules*, 12(11), 1571. <https://doi.org/10.3390/biom12111571>
17. Schuelert, N., & McDougall, J. J. (2012). Involvement of Nav 1.8 sodium ion channels in the transduction of mechanical pain in a rodent model of osteoarthritis. *Arthritis research & therapy*, 14(1), R5. <https://doi.org/10.1186/ar3553>
18. Rahman, W., Patel, R., & Dickenson, A. H. (2015). Electrophysiological evidence for voltage-gated calcium channel 2 (Cav2) modulation of mechano- and thermosensitive spinal neuronal responses in a rat model of osteoarthritis. *Neuroscience*, 305, 76–85. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.07.073>
19. Rahman, W., & Dickenson, A. H. (2015). Osteoarthritis-dependent changes in antinociceptive action of Nav1.7 and Nav1.8 sodium channel blockers: An in vivo electrophysiological study in the rat. *Neuroscience*, 295, 103–116. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.03.042>
20. Devi Rani Sagar, James J Burston, Gareth J Hathway, Stephen G Woodhams, Richard G Pearson, Andrew J Bennett, David A Kendall, Brigitte E Scammell, Victoria Chapman (2011) **The contribution of spinal glial cells to chronic pain behaviour in the monosodium iodoacetate model of osteoarthritic pain**

Mol Pain

-
- . 2011 Nov 17;7:88. doi: 10.1186/1744-8069-7-88.

21. Haywood, A. R., Hathway, G. J., & Chapman, V. (2018). Differential contributions of peripheral and central mechanisms to pain in a rodent model of osteoarthritis. *Scientific reports*, 8(1), 7122. <https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-25581-8>
22. Combe, R., Bramwell, S., & Field, M. J. (2004). The monosodium iodoacetate model of osteoarthritis: a model of chronic nociceptive pain in rats?. *Neuroscience letters*, 370(2-3), 236–240. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2004.08.023>
23. Garcia, M. M., Goicoechea, C., Avellanal, M., Traseira, S., Martín, M. I., & Sánchez-Robles, E. M. (2019). Comparison of the antinociceptive profiles of morphine and oxycodone in two models of inflammatory and osteoarthritic pain in rat. *European journal of pharmacology*, 854, 109–118. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2019.04.011>
24. Kelly, S., Chapman, R. J., Woodhams, S., Sagar, D. R., Turner, J., Burston, J. J., Bullock, C., Paton, K., Huang, J., Wong, A., McWilliams, D. F., Okine, B. N., Barrett, D. A., Hathway, G. J., Walsh, D. A., & Chapman, V. (2015). Increased function of pronociceptive TRPV1 at the level of the joint in a rat model of osteoarthritis pain. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*, 74(1), 252–259. <https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-203413>

Refs from neuropathic- will be some duplicates with nociceptive list

1. Bourassa, V., Deamond, H., Yousefpour, N., Fitzcharles, M. A. & Ribeiro-Da-Silva, A. Pain-related behavior is associated with increased joint innervation, ipsilateral dorsal horn gliosis, and dorsal root ganglia activating transcription factor 3 expression in a rat ankle joint model of osteoarthritis. *Pain Rep.* 5, E846 (2020).
2. Shin, S. M. et al. Enhanced T-type calcium channel 3.2 activity in sensory neurons contributes to neuropathic-like pain of monosodium iodoacetate-induced knee osteoarthritis. *Mol. Pain* 16, 1744806920963807 (2020).
3. Miyamoto, S. et al. Pain-related behavior and the characteristics of dorsal-root ganglia in a rat model of hip osteoarthritis induced by mono-iodoacetate. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research* 35, 1424–1430 (2017).
4. Ferreira-Gomes, J. et al. Tlr4 antagonism reduces movement-induced nociception and atf-3 expression in experimental osteoarthritis. *J. Pain Res.* 14, 2615–2627 (2021).
5. Hunt, D., Raivich, G. & Anderson, P. N. Activating transcription factor 3 (ATF3) and the nervous system. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 5, 20442 (2012).
6. Ferreira-Gomes, J., Adães, S., Sousa, R. M., Mendonça, M. & Castro-Lopes, J. M. Dose-dependent expression of neuronal injury markers during experimental osteoarthritis induced by moniodoacetate in the rat. *Mol. Pain* 8, (2012).
7. Thakur, M., Rahman, W., Hobbs, C., Dickenson, A. H. & Bennett, D. L. H. Characterisation of a Peripheral Neuropathic Component of the Rat Moniodoacetate Model of Osteoarthritis. *PLoS One* 7, e33730 (2012).
8. Ferreira-Gomes, J., Adães, S., Sarkander, J. & Castro-Lopes, J. M. Phenotypic alterations of neurons that innervate osteoarthritic joints in rats. *Arthritis Rheum.* 62, 3677–3685 (2010).
9. McDougall, J. J. et al. Lysophosphatidic acid provides a missing link between osteoarthritis and joint neuropathic pain. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 25, 926–934 (2017).

10. Reid, A. R., Côté, P. D. & McDougall, J. J. Long-Term Blockade of Nociceptive Nav1.7 Channels Is Analgesic in Rat Models of Knee Arthritis. *Biomolecules* 2022, Vol. 12, Page 1571 12, 1571 (2022).
11. O'Brien, M. S. & McDougall, J. J. Targeting Proteinase Activated Receptor-4 Reduces Mechanonociception During the Acute Inflammatory Phase but not the Chronic Neuropathic Phase of Osteoarthritis in Rats. *Front. Pharmacol.* 12, (2021).
12. O'Brien, M. S. & McDougall, J. J. Neurophysiological assessment of joint nociceptors in the rat medial meniscus transection model of post-traumatic osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 28, 1255–1264 (2020).
13. McDougall, J. J. & Reid, A. R. Joint Damage and Neuropathic Pain in Rats Treated With Lysophosphatidic Acid. *Front. Immunol.* 13, 811402 (2022).
14. Tran, P. B., Miller, R. E., Ishihara, S., Miller, R. J. & Malfait, A. M. Spinal microglial activation in a murine surgical model of knee osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 25, 718–726 (2017).
15. Mousseau, M. et al. Microglial pannexin-1 channel activation is a spinal determinant of joint pain. *Sci. Adv.* 4, (2018).
16. Im, H. J. et al. Alteration of sensory neurons and spinal response to an experimental osteoarthritis pain model. *Arthritis Rheum.* 62, 2995–3005 (2010).
17. Eitner, A., Hofmann, G. O. & Schaible, H. G. Mechanisms of osteoarthritic pain. Studies in humans and experimental models. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 10, 271478 (2017).
18. McGaraughty, S., Chu, K. L. & Xu, J. Characterization and pharmacological modulation of nociceptive deep dorsal horn neurons across diverse rat models of pathological pain. <https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00325.2018> 120, 1893–1905 (2018).
19. Zain, M. & Bonin, R. P. Alterations in evoked and spontaneous activity of dorsal horn wide dynamic range neurons in pathological pain: a systematic review and analysis. *Pain* 160, 2199–2209 (2019).
20. Havelin, J. et al. Central sensitization and neuropathic features of ongoing pain in a rat model of advanced osteoarthritis. *Journal of Pain* 17, 374–382 (2016).
21. Malek, N., Mlost, J., Kostrzewa, M., Rajca, J. & Starowicz, K. Description of Novel Molecular Factors in Lumbar DRGs and Spinal Cord Factors Underlying Development of Neuropathic Pain Component in the Animal Model of Osteoarthritis. *Molecular Neurobiology* 2023 61:3 61, 1580–1592 (2023).
22. Orita, S. et al. Pain-related sensory innervation in monoiodoacetate-induced osteoarthritis in rat knees that gradually develops neuronal injury in addition to inflammatory pain. *BMC Musculoskelet. Disord.* 12, 134 (2011).
23. Shin, S. M. et al. Sensory neuron-specific block of multifaceted sodium channels mitigates neuropathic pain behaviors of osteoarthritis. *Pain Rep.* 10, e1288 (2025).
24. Oudejans, L. et al. Translation of random painful stimuli into numerical responses in fibromyalgia and perioperative patients. *Pain* 157, 128–136 (2016).
25. Bove, S. E. et al. Surgically induced osteoarthritis in the rat results in the development of both osteoarthritis-like joint pain and secondary hyperalgesia. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 14, 1041–1048 (2006).

Commented [VC7]: Removed from text